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Gadsden Public Library has a rich history of 100 years of service to Etowah County and the surrounding areas. Established in 1906, the library’s first home was in this building on the corner of Forrest Avenue and Seventh Street, next to the First Baptist Church. (Courtesy of Gadsden Public Library.)



ON THE COVER: At Gadsden Public Library’s Alabama City branch, the number of books read per person in 1940 was twice the national average. Constructed in 1920, this landmark building reflects the beauty of Southern Colonial architecture and is still an essential part of Alabama City. (Courtesy of Gadsden Public Library.)
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We dedicate this book to the people who have shaped 
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Since its founding in 1906, hundreds of people have contributed to the preservation of Gadsden Public Library’s history. It is impossible to recognize all of these people, but without their hard work and love of history, this book would not have been possible. The library’s reference and local history departments house a treasure of information meticulously maintained through the years by diligent staff members. They paved the way for this book through their research, writing, and enthusiasm for local history, and fostered this interest in those who followed.

In addition to those named in this book, we gratefully acknowledge the contributions of all the many employees, board members, citizens, and community organizations that have played important roles in the library’s development. We regret that lack of space and photographs prevented us from recognizing each of them.

We wish to thank local photographer Robert Scarboro for his devotion to preserving history for the enrichment of future generations. We owe a debt of gratitude to the many citizens who contributed photographs to his collection. The library was privileged to purchase the Scarboro collection with funds appropriated by Bobby Junkins. In addition, we are grateful to the reporters and photographers at the Gadsden Times for their excellent news coverage through the years and to the publisher for generously allowing the library to reproduce their images. Unless otherwise specified, all images are from the library’s collection.

We would also like to thank Backstage Library Works for its timely assistance in developing many of the photographs from antiquated negatives. Without the company’s efforts, many of the photographs could not have been included in this volume.

Although he was not an official member of the Library History Committee, Joshua Carlson played an integral part in the production of this book. Without his computer knowledge and willingness to help, this book would still be a work in progress.

“Thank you” does not seem adequate to express our appreciation to our editor at Arcadia Publishing, Brooksi Hudson, for her guidance, support, and patience.

The Library History Committee members enthusiastically contributed their time, research, and writing skills to this project. Committee members Anita Brooks, Glenda Byars, Danny Crownover, Julie Dobbins, and Bobby Junkins are pleased to commemorate Gadsden Public Library’s centennial with this tribute to its past and present.




INTRODUCTION

With the opening dedication of a newly renovated facility in 2006, Gadsden Public Library celebrated 100 years of service to Etowah County and the surrounding areas. The vision shown by Mayor Steve Means and the Gadsden City Council in allocating funds for this vital project parallels the same vision shown by those who recognized the importance of a library in 1906.

In 1897, eight young women formed an alliance that evolved into the Thursday Study Club, which is still active today. One of their early goals was to establish a reading room or library for Gadsden. They enthusiastically began raising money to obtain books by holding fund-raisers such as oyster suppers, ice cream socials, doll shows, and steamboat excursions on the Coosa River. The cost of an outing on a steamboat was $1.25 per person, which included tea and sandwiches. Fines of 5¢ for being late to a meeting and 25¢ if a member failed to give a program generated money for the club. Through these efforts, club members raised $256 and, in 1900, began circulating books to the public. In December 1905, the club voted to close the reading room and to store the books until Gadsden’s new library was ready.

In 1905, the Carnegie Foundation awarded a grant of $10,000 to the City of Gadsden to build a library. Lena Martin, a charter member of the Thursday Study Club, was chosen as the first librarian. The library had its formal opening on the evening of December 20, 1906. Most visitors were impressed, but one prominent citizen remarked, “This is not a reading town. People will not waste their time here. In two years, the YMCA will take over the building.” Consequently, one of the early problems of the library was to sell itself to the community. Martin apparently succeeded in doing this. In 1907, registered borrowers totaled 832, and 10,500 books were checked out. As a result of Martin’s diligence, the library flourished through two world wars and a depression. In the 1930s, when the American Library Association set a $1 per capita minimum expenditure, Gadsden’s per capita expenditure was 12¢.

On October 22, 1936, in a report titled Reminiscence of the Thursday Study Club, Martin wrote the following: “In the spring of 1897 there came into being, quite without intent or purpose, without fanfare or trumpets, an organization which, tho an infant born of design or chance, according as you may look at life, has survived the adversities, the heat of summer, the cold of winters, the cruel pinch of three depressions, the loss of valuable members through death, has felt the wrench when intimate friends moved to distant cities. In fact, experienced most of the ills a human being would have encountered in thirty nine years of living. Now that it has attained its full stature we may look around and see the shadow it casts.” Based on population, Gadsden Public Library had the second largest circulation in the state in 1937.

Remarkably, Martin served as the librarian until 1955, when Richard Covey became library director. He inherited a woefully inadequate building and worked hard to publicize the fact that Gadsden Public Library was far behind the times. Despite an addition constructed in the 1940s, the library had outgrown its quarters. Covey was succeeded in 1961 by Cecil Beach, who remained in the job until 1965. He benefited from Covey’s efforts, and a new library was built during Beach’s administration. It opened on June 29, 1964, and was considered immense for its time.

Col. Oscar Rymer followed Beach, and next came Bobby Junkins, who had worked as a stack boy during his school days. Junkins, also a state representative, was the library director from 1975 to 1988. Under Junkins’s direction, the 1980s were a period of tremendous growth for Gadsden Public Library. In 1984, a wing to house the genealogy department was added and named in honor of Congressman Albert Rains. The children’s division was expanded in 1987 to double its existing space.

Rebecca Buckner Mitchell became director after Junkins was elected probate judge of Etowah County. She served as the library’s director from 1988 to 2001, a time period when services changed rapidly to meet the technological needs of the staff and community.

Lee Howington was appointed as director in June 2002. In 2004, the library began a $2.5-million renovation project. It represented the City of Gadsden’s continued commitment to excellence in library services and belief that libraries play an important role in the future by making information available to people of all ages and incomes.

Amanda Jackson is the current director, serving since October 2006. As director, Jackson plans to build on patrons’ enthusiastic response to newly renovated library facilities.

Throughout its history, Gadsden Public Library has sponsored a variety of programs and housed countless displays. There have been speakers, book clubs, classes, and reading programs for adults and children. Innovations, renovations, demonstrations, and ghostly encounters define the library’s character. In spite of its many years of service, the library has had only eight directors. All either wrote articles for local newspapers or were the subject of articles in an effort to keep the community aware of special events scheduled at the library.

Gadsden Public Library stands as a monument to the initiative, creativity, and vision of the citizens of Gadsden, whose dreams of a library seemed to exceed their grasp. Hard work and perseverance saw a reading room grow from a small loft above a downtown store to a 40,000-square-foot facility with branches. It continues to grow toward tomorrow with the original vision of service always foremost in the eyes of those who lead. With a dedicated staff and supportive city government, the library will continue its tradition of encouraging lifelong learning. While great traditions remain unchanged, the role of the public library has grown to accommodate the changing times. Community demands and services now reflect the impressive technological innovations of the past 100 years. What will never change is the library’s importance to the city and the joy of reading that is central to its mission.




One

LENA MARTIN 1906–1955

In 1897, eight young women formed a club called the Bachelor Girls to socialize and play cards. Soon, due to parental persuasion, weekly meetings became devoted to improving minds instead of playing cards. They changed the mission of their meetings, gave the programs structure, and adopted local causes. In 1899, the intellectual gathering evolved into the Thursday Study Club, which is still active today. One of the club’s early goals was to establish a reading room for Gadsden. Members raised $256 for books and opened a public reading room in 1900. When Gadsden Public Library opened in 1906, some 456 volumes from the reading room formed the nucleus of the library’s collection. Lena Martin, a charter member of the Thursday Study Club, was the first librarian and served for almost 50 years. During her years as librarian, Martin proved to be innovative and progressive. Thanksgiving 1908 marked the first story hour—with almost 500 in attendance. To help fund new materials, she offered a collection of books available to rent for a penny per day. The big news of 1913 was the addition of a telephone. Gas heat was installed in 1933, eliminating the need for coal. Martin became a synonym for “library” in the town as a second generation formed their reading tastes. Parents called to inquire whether it was fitting for a high school student to read novels by radical writers like John Steinbeck. Martin was often heard to say, “If I had a hundred lives to live, I should want to be a librarian in every one.” In 1955, Martin was 82 with failing health. Newly elected mayor Hugh Patterson appointed a library board without consulting Martin. The chairman of the library board sent Martin a letter requesting her retirement. Understanding Martin’s need to maintain ties to the library, he offered her a permanent place in the library and a special job of selecting the books to be received. However, this did not work out, and she resigned. After diligently serving almost half a century as library director, Martin accepted semi-retirement as graciously as possible. Mable Mosteller, an employee of the library, acted as head of the library until a new director was hired.
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Because of her enthusiasm, love for books, and literary knowledge, at age 33, Lena Martin was chosen as Gadsden Public Library’s first librarian. After her appointment on September 7, 1906, Martin attended a library school in Atlanta. From the beginning, Martin cherished and guarded her books. Everyone whispered in the library, and children tiptoed up the creaking stairs as carefully as they could, afraid to make any noise that would bring a frown from Martin. Despite her strictness, she cared for the library like it was her own child. The high quality of library service enjoyed in Gadsden today is a direct result of Martin’s dedication. Martin, known to everyone simply as “Miss Lena,” opened the door of learning for many Gadsden youngsters and contributed greatly to the entire community’s love of good books. On October 25, 1945, the Woman’s Club surprised Martin with a program in her honor at the Hotel Reich. Mayor Herbert Meighan presented her with a silver tray and candlesticks. The tray was inscribed “Presented to Lena Martin by the citizens of Gadsden, Alabama in appreciation of 45 years of devoted service to the Gadsden Public Library.”
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The first meeting of the Thursday Study Club took place in the spring of 1897. Charter members were Bianca Randall, Mathilde Bilbro, Etna Camp, Florrie Kyle, Annie Pentecost, Ada Pope, Minnie Turrentine, and Lena Martin. In December 1900, the Thursday Study Club opened a reading room, the first of its kind in Gadsden. The members paid $5 a month, six months in advance, to lease a little upstairs room in the new Moragne Building at 425 Broad Street, pictured second from right. Members of the club kept the reading room open four times weekly.
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The Thursday Study Club’s first printed yearbook, dated 1899, bears this motto: “He Who Does Not Advance, Goes Backward,” which reflected the members’ determination to improve their minds. The themes of programs throughout the club’s history expressed a keen awareness of current events, as well as a true appreciation of literature and the arts in all forms.



[image: e9781439619667_i0006.jpg]

Neighboring Alabama City had what is believed to be the first public library in Alabama. The Nichols Library was built in 1902 by the Dwight Cotton Mill in memory of Howard Gardner Nichols, who lost his life at the age of 25 in an 1896 accident at the plant. It confined its readership to male cotton mill workers; neither children nor ladies were allowed. Challenged by the beautiful Howard Nichols Library, the Thursday Study Club vowed to see a full-time public library for Gadsden. The Nichols Library is now the home of the Northeast Alabama Genealogical Society and was added to the National Register of Historic Places in 1974.
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Andrew Carnegie funded the building of libraries throughout the country. Encouraged by the success of the Thursday Study Club’s reading room, Prof. Walter E. Striplin approached the Carnegie Corporation about the necessary qualifications for a community to receive a grant for a library. Striplin and others raised money to purchase a northwest corner lot on Seventh Street and Forrest Avenue. An agreement was reached by Striplin and the Carnegie Corporation that provided Gadsden with a $10,000 grant to establish a public library. This portrait was a gift of the Carnegie Corporation of New York in 1935 and still hangs in the library.
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Gadsden’s city hall was located on Fifth Street until 1960. In April 1904, the city council unanimously adopted Ordinance Number 741 to appropriate $1,000 annually to support a library. On May 4, 1905, they bought an additional lot in the rear of the Carnegie Library for $250. The board of education and the city worked together on plans for the Carnegie Library.
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As excitement grew, the Gadsden Times frequently ran stories on the details of the library project. Etowah County’s oldest employer, the Gadsden Times was established in 1867 and moved to this building in 1904. After the newspaper’s owners relocated their business, the building was purchased for use as professional office space. It was renovated in 1981 and was added to the National Register of Historic Places in 1983. The extensive resources of Gadsden Public Library include the Gadsden Times on microfilm dating back to 1867.
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The grand opening of the library made front-page news on December 21, 1906, with the headline “Gadsden Public Library Is Opened Under Most Flattering Auspices.” Many members of the Thursday Study Club were there to assist with the reception. The city did not include any money for books when the new library opened because it already had 1,657 volumes. Donations included 456 volumes from the Thursday Study Club reading room, 342 from Gadsden public schools, and 230 from F. R. Abercrombie, with the rest received at book “showers.”
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Built on the corner of Forrest Avenue and Seventh Street, this beautiful redbrick building with its lofty stone columns was a combination of Colonial and Italian architecture. Reading and reference rooms were on the first floor, and on the second floor was a spacious assembly room with a seating capacity of 400, which could be used for meetings and programs. New shrubs and flowers were planted by the Gadsden Beautiful Club and the Woman’s Club with the help of Congressman John L. Burnett.
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Lena Martin sent this postcard of the Carnegie Library to the superintendent of documents in Washington, D.C. It is dated June 8, 1907.
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The library closed on May 26, 1912, out of respect for the untimely death of young Walter E. Striplin, superintendent of Gadsden City Schools, who had been instrumental in securing the original Carnegie grant for the library. At age 39, Striplin’s death from pneumonia was a great shock and loss to the community.
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In 1913, an outreach program was instigated for the benefit of children at the Eleventh Street School who could not otherwise come to the library. The Eleventh Street School was erected in 1907. It closed when newer schools were built in this area. The aging structure was later renovated, and it now houses the Gadsden Board of Education. It is the only surviving school building of that era and was added to the National Register of Historic Places in 1984. Pictured is the 1910 second-grade class on the steps of the school.
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The library frequently hosted plays and programs. This photograph, taken between 1912 and 1914 on the library’s front steps, shows the cast of a play presented by pupils of St. James Catholic School. Father Stahl (fifth row, sixth from left) served as priest until 1914, then returned to Germany, where he was killed during World War I. Among those identified are Francis Doyles (fifth row, standing to the left of the column), his father was manager of Higgins Gas Plant; ? Wendt (fourth row, third from right), her German father owned a bakery; Annie Wohl (fourth row, fourth from right), wearing a hat with a large flower; ? Dalton (third row, third from left), who lived at the corner of Turrentine and Walnut Streets; and Joe McCormack (first row, fourth from left), with the Buster Brown haircut. This picture was copied courtesy of Obal J. Christopher in October 1977. He is pictured on the fifth row, second from left column.
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In 1915, Robert Fosdick presented to the library a collection of more than 1,000 rare and valuable volumes in memory of his mother, Anna Mortimer Fosdick. This bookplate was designed for the collection by Thursday Study Club member Isabelle W. Cumming.
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It had long been a goal of Lena Martin’s to have a branch especially for the black community. Black teachers and students were allowed to use library materials by contacting Martin or Ruby Prater, a black maid who worked in the library. Their books were handed to them at the back door. In 1923, Martin finally succeeded in opening a branch library at Central High School especially for the black community. Funding was a problem, but Martin managed to interest people in making donations. Shown here is the Central High class of 1936 on the steps of the school. Carver High School was built on this site in 1936.
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To encourage children to read, book lists were compiled and sent to the public schools. By 1927, more than 5,000 books were being circulated through the school branches. A total of 39,688 books were circulated through the main library and its branches. The new Henry Street School, pictured here, opened with an outreach library in 1929.
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Taken on June 21, 1929, this photograph shows the first tire being produced at Goodyear’s Gadsden plant. The second tire produced at the plant was donated to the library.
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In 1931, the Gadsden Woman’s Club donated books to establish a new children’s department on the second floor. The oak charging desk was donated by Will Gwin. The Gadsden Times proclaimed, “Children flocked there for books.” Vacation clubs and summer reading programs were organized for the children. This photograph was published in the Gadsden Times on November 13, 1932, with the headline, “Children’s Room of Public Library One of Its Most Popular Features.” At the right of the picture is one of two bookcases donated by Robert Fosdick that are still used for displays in the corridor of the main library.



[image: e9781439619667_i0023.jpg]

Known in library circles for its growth and extensive book collection, Gadsden Public Library was chosen to host the regional library meeting of the Alabama Library Association’s biannual session in 1937. Dignitaries from across the state attended the meetings held at the Hotel Reich, located across the street from the library. Gadsden’s first skyscraper, the 10-story hotel was built in 1929 by a group of investors headed by Adolph Reich and was operated for 50 years.
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At the 1937 library meeting, the banquet favor next to each plate was a booklet titled The Legend of Noccalula by Mathilde Bilbro, with a beautiful hand-painted cover by Marjorie Plank.
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Thursday Study Club members are casually dressed to enjoy a picnic in 1938 at the Mentone summer home of Alice Inzer. They are, from left to right, Mrs. A. E. (Q. Johnson) Swanson, Mrs. H. W. (Edna) Neiderhauser, Mrs. Morgan (Ethel Line) McCall, Lena Martin, Mrs. Adolph (Nellie King Riddle) Reich, Mrs. Dee (Jessie Banks) Holloway, Mrs. Lucien (Hilda) Brown, Mrs. Howard (Daisy McDuffie) Thomas, Mrs. James C. (Alice) Inzer, and Mrs. George (Ella Watson) Vann.
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As Gadsden began annexing territory and experiencing population growth, the demand for branch libraries also grew. The city commission approved funding for an Alabama City branch of Gadsden Public Library on February 15, 1938. The old city hall, built in 1920 when Alabama City was a separate municipality, was selected as an ideal spot. After cleaning and painting, shelving was installed. The librarian’s desk was formerly the city clerk’s desk, the judge’s bench was cut down to make a dictionary stand, and a magazine stand was previously used in one of the city’s pool rooms. The library was housed in the abandoned courtroom, and a post office occupied the rest of the building.
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At the Alabama City Library open house on May 13, 1938, more than 1,000 enthusiastic visitors registered. With only 420 volumes, the shelves were practically bare at the end of the first day. Books from the old Nichols Library made up part of this collection. Lena Martin requested the donation of books to stock the new library and by September 30, 1939, reported a total of 2,725 volumes. In 1940, American Library Association statistics show the Alabama City branch library’s circulation as being twice the national average. The Birmingham News on January 16, 1940, featured this picture with the headline, “Reading Public Is Unusually Large In Alabama City.”



[image: e9781439619667_i0028.jpg]

Beautiful murals depicting the Arthurian legends were painted at the Alabama City Library by Marjorie Plank. Materials were purchased by the Woman’s Book Club, and Plank donated her time.
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Lena Martin perfected a method to effectively bind old newspapers and magazines that drew widespread attention. On September 14, 1939, First Lady Eleanor Roosevelt inspected the mending and binding work at the Alabama City branch library while in Gadsden on a lecture tour. In a Birmingham Post article titled “My Day,” Roosevelt said, “We visited a library in the post office of Alabama City, where big cotton mills are situated. Here they have about 2,600 books, but the circulation is so large that a very good educational job must have been done in the community to awaken a realization of the value of reading.” Pictured here are Roosevelt, third from left; Mayor J. Herbert Meighan, and two unidentified women at a meeting in Gadsden’s Hotel Reich.
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Downtown Gadsden was busy in the 1940s. Originally built to house 5,000 volumes, the library now had more than 23,000 volumes. The library was open 35 hours per week, with an annual circulation of 161,336 in 1940. Books were stacked in every possible space. The Woman’s Club started a drive to increase the size of the library. Shown after the addition was complete, the library is the brick building on the right, across the street from the Hotel Reich.
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A Works Progress Administration grant provided $24,884 of the $49,884 needed for the expansion of the library. Two huge rooms were added in the Williamsburg style, and in 1941, Lena Martin directed the move to the new quarters. With so much expansion and progressiveness, it is little wonder Gadsden Public Library received an award of excellence from the American Library Association in 1942.
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Lena Martin lived on Walnut Street with her brother and usually walked to work. Will I. Martin began his career at the Gadsden Leader in 1892 and was a noted columnist at the Gadsden Times until his death in 1954. Beginning in 1946, he wrote a popular daily column known as Fifty Years Ago. If Memory Serves, published in 1953, is a collection of 100 of Martin’s newspaper columns. Approximately 4,000 of his columns were preserved by his sister in scrapbooks. Because of the deteriorating condition of the scrapbooks and a desire to share this local history, in the 1980s, the library’s reference staff began typing and saving these columns on disc. It was a laborious task, complicated by ever-changing computer technology and format compatibility. Although not a professional product, what it lacks in quality is outweighed by hours of reading enjoyment.
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The Etowah Historical Society made Lena Martin an honorary member in 1954 in recognition of her lifetime spent contributing to research and local preservation. Pictured at their first annual Christmas party in December 1954, members from left to right are (first row, seated) Mary Harrison Lister, Lena Martin, R. H. Copeland, Mrs. R. H. Copeland, Mrs. W. O. (Kate) Briscoe, Hazel Oliver, Mrs. W. A. Leach, and Frances Underwood; (second row) Mrs. Pete (Ramona) Butler, Mrs. Tom (Irene) Sansom, Mrs. Russell Hooks, Mrs. Elbert (Ramona) Watson, George W. Floyd, Elbert Watson, W. O. Briscoe, Mrs. William C. Tolbert, Mrs. C. L. Manderson, and Mrs. Glenn Sedam; (third row) Marvin Small, Tom Sansom, Russell Hooks, Glenn Sedam, Pete Butler, C. L. Manderson, and William Tolbert.
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